THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robert E. Watson
The Honorable Dale E. Van Slambrook
Berkeley County Masters in Equity

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2015-002287

RECEIVED
FEB 08 2016
SC Court of Appeals

SUPERIOR ELECTRIC COMPANY and DEAN HENSLEY..... Appellants

v.

ECK SUPPLY CO.Respondent

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

Robert B. Varnado
Alexis M. Wimberly
BROWN & VARNADO LLC
P.O. Box 1127
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29465
(843) 737-7300
Attorneys for Appellants

Other Counsel of Record:
Steven L. Smith, Esquire
Smith Closser
Post Office Box 40578
Charleston, South Carolina 29423-0578
Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant Superior Electric Company (“Superior”) is a commercial electrical subcontractor with its principal place of business in Berkeley Count. It is a duly registered South Carolina corporation; the Appellant Dean Hensley (“Hensley”) as its sole owner and president. [Trial Tr.].

The Respondent Eck Supply Co. (“Eck”) is a supplier of electrical components. Its principal offices are located in Richmond, Virginia but it has operations in North Charleston, South Carolina. [*Id.*]

Superior and Eck had a long-standing business relationship dating back at least into the 1990s. The appeal at bar arose out of a dispute over whether Superior owed additional sums for ballasts and other electrical supplies purchased from Eck for use in the construction of a parking garage at the Summerville Town Hall, during the period of 2006-2007. [*Id.*]

Eck contended that Superior owed \$13,900.93 in unpaid invoices. Superior argued that it was contractually bound to pay no more than \$295,636.00 for the Summerville Town Hall project, and that when credits and charges were taken into account, Eck actually owed Superior the sum of \$8,394.86. [*Id.*]

During pre-trial discovery, Eck produced an incomplete “Credit Application” that was purportedly signed by Hensley on or about September 25, 2000. [Plt. Exh. 1]. Importantly, the Credit Application contains a Guaranty.

The document produced by Eck contains facsimile headers which purport to show the document was faxed back and forth from Eck and Superior. The document references “Please see attached” repeatedly – though no such attachments were produced by Eck.

Many spaces are blank or incomplete. Much of the text, particularly in the Guaranty / section, is entirely illegible. [*Id.*]. Although Eck's witness admitted the original was in Eck's possession, the original was not produced at trial. [Trial Tr.]. Eck never produced a copy of a prototype Credit Application from the same period, either.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This matter came to a bench trial on June 16, 2014 before the Honorable Robert E. Watson, Berkeley County Master in Equity by virtue of a consent order of reference. At the Master's request, both parties submitted proposed orders following the trial.

Before he ruled, the Master had the parties appear at a hearing on October 8, 2014 to argue the issue of attorneys' fees. Appellant's filed a memorandum in opposition to the same. [Memo].

The Master then issued an Order of Judgment on October 24, 2014 which was filed with the Clerk of Court on October 27, 2014 ("Order of Judgment"). [10.24.14 Order].

In the Order of Judgment, Judge Watson gave a judgment in the amount of \$33,100.24 to the Eck against both Superior Electric Company and Dean M. Hensley – consisting of the \$13,900.93 in principal debt claimed by Eck, and \$19,199.31 in attorneys' fees (capped at \$2,500.00), interest at 18.00% and costs. [*Id.*]

Significantly to this appeal, the Master found:

"Defendant Dean Hensley executed the credit application on behalf of Superior and further executed a personal guarantee for Superior's debt to Eck in his individual capacity. Cember Hensley confirmed these facts by offering testimony that the credit application was transmitted by Superior to Eck as shown by Superior's facsimile stamp thereon. The credit application provides for Eck's recovery of Superior's outstanding balance with Eck plus interest at 1.5% per month or 18% annually, plus Eck's attorneys' fees in the amount of 25% of principal debt amount, plus all costs incurred by Eck pursuing the collection (hereinafter Total Debt). The

personal guarantee executed by Dean Hensley, personally and individually obligates Dean Hensley to Superior's Total Debt."

[*Id.*, p. 2].

The Defendants filed a timely motion to alter or amend on November 10, 2014, having confirmed written notice of receipt of the Order of Judgment on October 31, 2014. [Motion].

Due to the retirement of Judge Watson, the new Berkeley County Master in Equity, the Honorable Dale E. van Slambrook, took up the matter. He issued an Order on September 30, 2015, filed October 2, 2015, denying the motion to reconsider [9.30.15 Order], which was received by Appellant on October 6, 2015.

This appeal followed, being submitted on November 2, 2015 and received by the Court of Appeals on November 4, 2015. [Not. of Appeal].

In this appeal, Appellants do not appeal the Master's award of \$13,900.93 in principal debt claimed by Eck against Superior.

Appellant's are, however, appealing the award of personal liability against Hensley as the purported Guarantor, as well as the award of the attorneys' fees and interest based on the Credit Application.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action for breach of contract seeking money damages is an action at law. *McCall v. IKON*, 380 S.C. 649, 658, 670 S.E.2d 695, 700 (Ct. App. 2008). When reviewing an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the appellate court's jurisdiction is limited to correction of errors at law, and the appellate court will not disturb the judge's findings of fact as long as they are reasonably supported by the evidence. *Epworth Children's Home v. Beasley*, 365 S.C. 157, 164, 616 S.E.2d 710, 714 (2005); *Bluffton Town Centre, LLC v. Gilliland-Prince*, 412 S.C. 554, 563-564, 772 S.E.2d 882, 887 (Ct. App. 2015) (“[t]he appellate court will not disturb the master's findings of fact unless the findings are found to be without evidence reasonably supporting them.”). However, the reviewing court is free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the Master. *Id.*

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Master err in finding that there was evidence to support that Defendant Dean Hensley executed a personal guaranty?
- II. Did the Master err in finding that there was evidence to support that Defendant Dean Hensley signed the credit application?
- III. Did the Master err in admitting the Credit Application into evidence when Eck failed to authenticate it or Dean Hensley's signature as required by Rule 901(a), SCRE?
- IV. Did the Master err in admitting the illegible, incomplete Credit Application into evidence when there was a genuine issue of authenticity, pursuant to Rule 1003, SCRE?

APPEAL ARGUMENT I

The Master erred in finding that there was evidence to support that Defendant Dean Hensley executed a personal guaranty.

The Master's factual finding that "Dean Hensley ... executed a personal guarantee for Superior's debt to Eck in his individual capacity" is without evidence to reasonably support it and should be reversed on appeal for the following reasons. *Epworth Children's Home*, 365 S.C. at 164, 616 S.E.2d at 714; *Bluffton Town Centre*, 412 S.C. at 563-564, 772 S.E.2d at 887.

A guaranty is a contract. *Peoples Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n. v. Myrtle Beach Retirement Group, Inc.*, 300 S.C. 277, 280, 387 S.E.2d 672, 673 (1989); *Coastal States Bank v. Hanover Homes of South Carolina, Inc.*, 408 S.C. 510, 518, 769 S.E.2d 152, 157 (Ct. App. 2014); *cf Crafton v. Brown*, 346 S.C. 347, 354, 550 S.E.2d 904, 907 (Ct. App. 2001) (using the term "[a] contract of guaranty"). Specifically, "[a] guaranty is a promise to answer for the payment of some debt or the performance of some duty in case of the failure of another person who is himself in the first instance, liable to such payment or performance." *Branch Bank & Trust Co. of South Carolina v. Carolina Crank & Core, Inc.*, 362 S.C. 647, 652-653, 608 S.E.2d 896, 899 (2005) (citing *Crafton*, 346 S.C. at 350-51, 550 S.E.2d at 905). A guaranty is a personal obligation running directly from the guarantor to the creditor which is immediately enforceable against the guarantor upon default of the debtor. *AMA Mgt. Corp., v. Strasburger*, 309 S.C. 213, 219, 420 S.E.2d 868, 872 (Ct. App. 1994).

As Appellants have argued every step of the way, the only evidence offered to the Master was that Hensley did not sign the guaranty. His testimony was unequivocal: it was not his signature and he had never seen the document before the litigation. [Trial Tr. pp.

105, 111]. There was no testimony that he ratified it; he did not know who might have signed it. [*Id.* p. 108]. Cember Hensley, his wife, did not recognize the signature [*Id.* p. 202]. Only she and Hensley would have had the actual authority to enter the contract. [*Id.*].

Despite having the burden of proof, Eck never admitted – or sought – a signature exemplar from Hensley. Eck did not call in a handwriting expert. Eck did not even offer any testimony consistent with Rule 901(b)(2), SCRE (“Non-expert opinion as to the genuineness of handwriting, based upon familiarity not acquired for purposes of the litigation.”). The signature and all the writing is clearly in a feminine script. [Plt. Exhibit 1]. Hensley said the handwriting was too neat to be his. [Trial Tr. pp. 105]. He did not testify, nor was he asked, if he had ever ratified the signature. No records custodian witness appeared on behalf of Eck – either by Affidavit or otherwise – to substantiate or authenticate the document.

Moreover, Eck’s sole witness in its case-in-chief, Charles Smith, testified he could not substantiate the signature. [Trial Tr. p. 43]. Mr. Smith made it clear that he was not the record custodian of the Guaranty; his counsel represented they had received a copy from Eck’s office in Richmond.” [Id. p. 20]. Smith was not in possession of the original. [*Id.* p. 43]. In fact, Smith went to work for Eck several years after the guaranty was purportedly executed. [*Id.*]. He had not worked with or met Mr. Hensley before the litigation. [*Id.*]. Before Eck rested its case, it called no witness who could substantiate that Mr. Hensley signed the guaranty. This is simply a complete failure of proof or evidence on the part of Eck.

“A contract of guaranty, like every other contract, can only be made by the mutual assent of the parties.” *Crafton*, 346 S.C. at 354, 550 S.E.2d at 907. “If the guaranty is signed

by the guarantor at the request of the other party, or if the latter's agreement is contemporaneous with the guaranty, the mutual assent is proved, and the delivery of the guaranty to him or for his use completes the contract.” *Id.*; *cf. Sadighi v. Daghighfekr*, 66 F.Supp.2d 752, 760 (D.S.C. 1999) (holding that the signature of parties amounts to mutual assent); *see also New v. GameStop, Inc.*, 232 W. Va. 564, 572-73, 754 S.E.2d. 62, 76 (2013) (“Mutual assent may be demonstrated by unambiguous language of an agreement coupled with an acceptance of that agreement by means of signature.”); *Edens v. Laurel Hill, Inc.*, 271 S.C. 360, 364, 247 S.E.2d 434, 436 (1978) (“[i]t is well settled in South Carolina that in order for there to be a binding contract between parties, there must be a mutual manifestation of assent to the terms”).

Because Eck offered no proof that Hensley signed the guaranty – and because all the probative testimony was that he did not – then there can be no mutual assent to the guaranty as a matter of law. *Crafton*, 346 S.C. at 354, 550 S.E.2d at 907. When the record is reviewed *in toto* there is no proof of mutual assent to the Guaranty at all. Thus, the Master should be reversed because there is no evidence to reasonably support any conclusion that Hensley did sign.

Case law further supports such a determination. In *Pee Dee Production Credit Ass'n v. Joye*, 284 S.C. 371, 374-375, 326 S.E.2d 650, 653 (1984), our Supreme Court found that the testimony of a handwriting expert and the lay testimony of a bank employee (who examined signatures as part of his employment), along with the proper presentation of a signature exemplar, was sufficient evidence to support a jury finding that the defendant signed a promissory note. In the instant case, however, Eck – which bears the burden of proof – presented no such handwriting expert, nor the lay testimony of an employee who

examines signatures; likewise, it failed to demand or obtain a writing exemplar. Additionally, in *American Casualty Company v. Niagara Fire Ins. Co.*, 244 S.C. 411, 418-419, 137 S.E.2d 412, 415 (1964), our Supreme Court ruled plainly that a plaintiff was not bound by the unauthorized signature of her name onto a cancellation of insurance.

The only evidence adduced at trial is that any signature on the guaranty was not Hensley's and unauthorized by Hensley. Thus, Hensley is not bound by it. *American Casualty Co.*, 244 S.C. at 418-419, 137 S.E.2d at 415. Eck never took any evidentiary steps to authenticate the purported signature or submit evidence which would support a finding by the Master that Hensley signed the Guaranty. *Pee Dee Production*, 284 S.C. at 371, 326 S.E.2d at 653. All the proof adduced at trial, in fact, militates against such a ruling. Accordingly, the Master should be reversed based on the prevailing case authority as well; under these facts, the absence of a valid signature means there was no mutual assent and no meeting of the minds. *Crafton*, 346 S.C. at 354, 550 S.E.2d at 907.

Facsimile Stamps

It is anticipated that Respondent will point to the "facsimile stamps" on the guaranty as somehow probative. Respondent's counsel made a big point that Cember Hensley testified about the facsimile stamps – which the Master relied on, too. [Pl. Exh. 1; 10.24.14 Order]. But in light of the testimony, the facsimile stamps are meaningless to ascertain the true issue concerning the guaranty: whether there is evidence that Hensley signed the guaranty and is thus bound by it.

Contrary to the Master's finding, Cember Hensley never "confirmed" that Dean Hensley signed the Credit Application; in fact, she denied it outright [Trial. Tr. p. 202]. All she said was it appeared someone had faxed the document from Superior to Eck as per

the facsimile stamps. [Id.] It is a verbal sleight of hand to spin that factual point into some blanket admission that Hensley signed the guaranty. In light of the unequivocal testimony that the signature is not Hensley's, the fact Eck received a fax from Superior is not evidence that reasonably supports a finding Hensley signed the document – the most the Court could find is that there was an unauthorized signature.

Hensley should not have guaranty liability because Eck was sloppy and slap-dash in how it solicited and processed credit applications from its customers. In his deposition, Eck's witness Mr. Smith conceded the guaranty must be signed by the actual owner to be effective. [Smith Dep. p. 48]. The guaranty cannot be enforced against Hensley on these facts without ignoring the law and the evidence.

Apparent Agency

It is anticipated that Respondent will argue as an alternate sustaining ground that the Master's reliance on facsimile stamps shows whoever signed the guaranty was authorized to sign on his behalf of Hensley by virtue of apparent agency. As a matter of law, however, Eck cannot establish guaranty liability on Hensley through "apparent agency" of whoever signed the application.

To establish apparent agency, a party must prove the purported principal has represented another to be his agent by either affirmative conduct or conscious and voluntary inaction." *Town of Kingstree v. Chapman* 405 S.C. 282, 314, 747 S.E.2d 494, 510 (Ct. App. 2013). "The proper focus in determining a claim of apparent authority is not on the relationship between the principal and the agent, but on that between the principal and the third party." *Id.* Importantly, it is axiomatic that an agency may not be established solely by the declarations and conduct of an alleged agent. *Id.*

Since Hensley denies it is his signature, and testified that no one had a right to sign a guaranty for him, the only evidence that could establish a purported agency would be for Eck to have shown Hensley represented to Eck that the unidentified employee had authority to sign the guaranty on his behalf. Eck clearly failed to make this showing. It did not even try to prove it. No proof in the record could possibly be stretched to establish the same. Thus, the act of signing and faxing by the purported agent would be solely the unilateral declaration and conduct of the alleged agent -- which is insufficient to bind Hensley. *Town of Kingstree*, 405 S.C. at 314, 747 S.E.2d at 510. No evidence adduced that Hensley *himself* faxed the guaranty to Eck; or that he represented to Eck that someone else was specifically authorized to sign the guaranty; or that he ratified it after the fact. It should be recalled that Eck's sole witness at trial said he did not work with or communicate directly with Hensley, and that he was hired by Eck after the fact. [Trial Tr. p. 48].

Thus, Hensley simply cannot be bound under an "agency theory" – especially for so serious an obligation as a contract of guaranty. *Town of Kingstree*, 405 S.C. at 314, 747 S.E.2d at 510; *see also WDI Meredith & Co. v. American Telesis, Inc.*, 359 S.C. 474, 478-479, 597 S.E.2d 885, 887 (Ct. App. 2004); 2A CJS Agency § 181 (“[a] third party may not assume from the fact of a mere agency, either limited or general, that he has authority to make a contract of guaranty”); 3 WILLISTON ON CONTRACTS § 277A (3d Ed.) (“[h]owever general the character of an agency may be, a contract of guaranty ... is not normally to be inferred from such agency”); *Nevis v. Fidelity New York, F.A.*, 104 Nev. 576, 578, 763 P.2d 345, 346 (1988) (“Courts recognize the serious obligation imposed upon a guarantor, and generally require specific authorization before finding that an agent has authority to bind his principal in a guaranty agreement.”). Because Superior is a corporation, the provisions

of S. C. Code Ann. § 33-44-301(b)(1) of the South Carolina Uniform Limited Liability Act (regarding a manager's signature as binding on the company) do not apply here.

Guaranty is Separate and Distinct

It is further anticipated Eck will argue that even if the signature on the guaranty is invalid in 2000, the contract of guaranty is nevertheless enforceable against Hensley because Superior made subsequent credit purchases from Eck; this argument would be predicated on principles such as acceptance, ratification, performance, etc. In any event, this Court should reject this type of argument as an alternate sustaining ground for liability against Hensley individually.

In *Citizens & Southern Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Lanford*, 313 S.C. 450, 453, 443 S.E.2d 59, 550 (1994), our Supreme Court held that: "[t]he general rule in South Carolina ... is that a guaranty of payment is an obligation separate and distinct from the original note."

The *Lanford* Court went on to adopt the language of 38 AmJur 2d, *Guaranty* § 4:

"The debtor is not a party to the guaranty, and the guarantor is not a party to the principal obligation. The undertaking of the former is independent of the promise of the latter; and the responsibilities which are imposed by the contract of guaranty differ from those which are created by the contract to which the guaranty is collateral. The fact that both contracts are written on the same paper or instrument does not affect the independence or separateness of one from the other."

Id., 313 S.C. at 454, 443 S.E.2d at 551.

Thus, any finding that Superior's use of credit somehow makes the other provisions of the Credit Application enforceable does not automatically trigger guaranty liability to Hensley. Such a finding would violate the principle in *Lanford* by conflating two separate and distinct obligations. *Id.* Hensley's alleged guaranty liability must be determined totally in isolation from Superior's purported liability on the other parts of the Credit Application.

Id.

APPEAL ARGUMENT II

The Master erred in finding that there was evidence to support that Defendant Dean Hensley signed the credit application.

As with the Guaranty, there is no evidence in the record that reasonably supports the Master's factual finding that Dean Hensley signed the non-guaranty section of the Credit Application. This would result in the invalidation of the attorneys' fees and contractual interest provisions.

The same evidence applies Mr. and Mrs. Hensley denied the signatures. [Trial. Tr. p. 105, 108, 111, 202]. Eck's sole witness could not substantiate the signatures. [Id. p. 43]. There was no after-the-fact acceptance of the Credit Application by Hensley. Moreover, even though the signature was clearly in a feminine script, there was no evidence that Eck took any steps to confirm its validity or seek Hensley to reissue it

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