THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robert E. Watson and The Honorable Dale E. Van Slambrook
Masters-In-Equity

Case No. 2009-CP-08-2037
Appellate Case No. 2015-002287

Eck Supply Co.,

Respondent,

v.

Superior Electric Company
and Dean M. Hensley

Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SMITH | CLOSSER, P.A.

Steven L. Smith (SC Bar No.: 05173)
Samuel M. Wheeler (SC Bar No.: 101008)
7455 Cross County Road, Suite 1
P.O. Box 40578
Charleston, SC 29423-0578
843-760-0220
843-552-2678

RECEIVED

APR 13 2016

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENTS

Eck brought, tried and won this case based on the theory that a debt was owed under the Credit Application and Guarantee. (see Compl., Am. Compl., Tr.). The Lower Court found that the Appellants were jointly and severally liable for the Principal Debt, attorney's fees, interest and costs, all under the Credit Application and Guarantee. (Order p. 2-5). Appellants specifically state in their brief that they "do not appeal the Master's award of \$13,900.93 in principal debt claimed by Eck against Superior." (Appellants' Br. p. 3). These statements amount to binding admissions. Rule 208(b)(C), SCACR. (stating, "[a]ny matter stated or alleged in appellant's statement shall be binding on appellant."). The Lower Court found that the Principal Debt was due under the Credit Application and Guarantee, and Superior has not

appealed that debt as owed by Superior. Appellants have appealed “the award of personal liability against Hensley as the purported Guarantor, as well as the award of the attorneys’ fees and interest based on the Credit Application.” (Appellants’ Br. p. 3).¹

It is completely contradictory for Superior to accept the Lower Court’s ruling that the Principal Debt is owed under a Credit Application, while now, on appeal, attempting to cast aside certain language in that same document. The Appellants recognize this problem later in their brief when they argue, “[t]he practical effect of finding that the credit application is invalid does not necessarily void the Master’s judgment that Superior owes the purported principal obligation (\$13,900.93). Instead, it would result in no valid attorneys’ fee provision or compounding 18% interest beyond the lawful pre-judgment interest rate.” (Appellants’ Br. p. 13). In fact, this is precisely the effect of such a finding. Eck tried and won this case on the theory that the Principal Debt was owed by Superior under the Credit Application. Invalidating the Credit Application absolutely wipes out the Principal Debt – a debt that Superior is not appealing.

Appellants go on to state, “Even if the purchase of supplies on credit supports the judgment on the principal balance, Superior is not obligated to pay attorneys’ fees and interest if Eck cannot prove Superior assented to the same.” (Appellants’ Br. p. 13). Here, Superior is attempting to acknowledge the Principal Debt under some form of credit arrangement outside the Credit Application, thus allowing Superior to not appeal the Principal Debt while still being able to appeal the attorney’s fees and interest. Again, this argument fails for the same reasons stated above. The Lower Court found the Principal Debt is owed by Superior under the Credit

¹ Eck acknowledges that this admission binds only Superior. Any liability of Hensley, as Guarantor, is established separately from that of Superior. The arguments in this introductory section relate to Superior and the failure of Superior’s attempt to accept the award of the Principal Debt under the Credit Application, while severing interest and attorney’s fees clauses in the same Credit Application.

Application, not some other form of arrangement. Superior has not appealed this ruling; therefore, it has accepted liability under the Credit Application and must also accept the attorney's fees and interest contained therein.

In its Motion to Reconsider, Superior could have specifically asked the Lower Court whether the Principal Debt was awarded by virtue of the Credit Application or some other form implied credit arrangement. It did not. (Appellants' Mot. to Recons.) (Appellants actually dedicate most of their Motion to Reconsider to their assertion that the Principal Debt was not owed, instead of requesting the Lower Court consider the arguments they now raise on appeal). Superior cannot now raise a new theory which was not argued nor ruled on by the Lower Court. *see Holy Loch Distribs., Inc. v. Hitchcock*, 340 S.C. 20, 531 S.E.2d 282 (2000); *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 529 S.E.2d 543 (2000). (standing for the well settled rule of law that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved).

The Appellants cite to *Seabrook Island Property Owners' Ass'n v. Berger*, 365 S.C. 234, 616 S.E.2d 431 (Ct. App. 2005) to somehow support these new arguments. However, the *Seabrook* court cites the long established rule that attorneys' fees are not recoverable unless authorized by a contract or statute, before discussing the reasonableness of attorneys' fees in that case. *Id.* at 238-239, 434-435. Eck could not and does not dispute this long standing precedent. In this case, the Lower court found a binding contract (i.e., the Credit Application), which allowed for attorney's fees. In this case, the Lower Court found Superior to be liability for the Principal Debt under that contract, and Superior has not appealed that ruling.

Because the Principal Debt was found by the Lower Court to be owed by Superior via the Credit Application, and because Superior has not appealed this ruling, Superior should not now

be allowed to challenge the validity of the Credit Application. All arguments made by the Appellants related to the Credit Application, its admission into evidence, its execution by Hensley, its authorization of interest and attorney's fees should not be considered by this Court.

- I. THE MASTER'S FINDINGS OF FACT SHOULD NOT BE DISTURBED ON APPEAL BECAUSE THERE WAS REASONABLE EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT THAT DEAN HENSLEY EXECUTED THE PERSONAL GUARANTEE.
- II. THE MASTER'S FINDINGS OF FACT SHOULD NOT BE DISTURBED ON APPEAL BECAUSE THERE WAS REASONABLE EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT THAT DEAN HENSLEY EXECUTED THE CREDIT APPLICATION.

For the sake of brevity and considering the overlap of Eck's arguments under Issues I and II, these two sections will be combined. There was reasonable evidence that Hensley executed the Credit Application and Guarantee, and the Master's findings should be not disturbed on appeal.

"In an action at law tried without a jury, the judge's findings of fact will not be disturbed on appeal unless there is no evidentiary support for the judge's findings." *Murrells Inlet Corp. v. Ward*, 378 S.C. 225, 231, 662 S.E.2d 452, 455 (Ct.App.2008); *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976) (stating, "In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. The rule is the same whether the judge's findings are made with or without, a reference. The judge's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action.").

Substantial weight is given to the findings of fact of a judge or jury, only being disturbed when there is "no evidentiary support." *Id.* This is due partially to the fact that the "appellate court lacks the opportunity for direct observation of the witnesses..." *Menne v. Keowee Key Property Owners' Ass'n, Inc.*, 368 S.C. 557, 567, 629 S.E. 2d 690, 697 (Ct. App. 2006) (*quoting*

South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Forrester, 282 S.C. 512, 516, 320 S.E.2d 39, 42 (Ct.App.1984)). It should therefore “accord great deference to trial court findings where matters of credibility are involved.” *Id.* The judge or jury is in the best position to hear the witnesses, observe their demeanors and make decisions relative to the veracity of their statements and credibility of their characters. *see Thomas v. Mitchell*, 287 S.C. 35, 38, 336 S.E.2d 154, 155 (Ct.App.1985).

During its case-in-chief, Eck entered into evidence the Credit Application and the Guarantee, took testimony from Eck’s branch manager, and entered into evidence the complete depositions of Hensley and his wife, Cember Hensley. (Tr. pp. 16-67). The Credit Application contained all Superior’s correct information. (Hensley Dep. Tr. p. 32). Hensley also admitted that he had in fact filled out a credit application for Eck in the past. *Id.* The Guarantee contained a social security number, which Hensley admitted was his. *Id.* at 33. Hensley further testified that the only other person at Superior who knew his social security number was his wife. *Id.* Both the Credit Application and Guarantee, which contained accurate information for Superior and Hensley, were faxed directly from Superior to Eck, as evidenced by the facsimile stamp at the top of the document. (Credit Appl.). Eck’s branch manager, who was qualified as an expert in the field of electrical sales, testified at trial that document was maintained in Eck’s file for Superior in accordance with industry standards. (Tr. pp. 19-20).

Based on Eck’s case-in-chief, there is more than enough evidence from which the Master could have found Hensley executed both the Credit Application and the Guarantee. The documents were sent directly from Superior, with correct information for Superior and Hensley, some of which only Hensley and his wife knew. Furthermore, Hensley admitted that he did in fact fill out a credit application at some point in time. At minimum, the above evidence rises

well beyond the threshold of “no evidentiary support for the judge's findings,” thus preventing this Court from disturbing the Master’s findings on appeal. *Murrells Inlet Corp. v. Ward*, 378 S.C. 225, 231, 662 S.E.2d 452, 455 (Ct.App.2008).

During cross-examination of Hensley and his wife, these witnesses could offer nothing beyond a very convenient and self-serving denial of Hensley signing the Credit Application or Guarantee. (Tr. p. 108). Appellants rely heavily on this denial to argue that the Master’s findings of fact are not supported by the evidence presented in this case. However, inconsistent with these denials was Hensley’s testimony that he was the person who was responsible for completing these documents, a fact corroborated by his wife on cross-examination. (Tr. p. 109, p. 202). If no one else was allowed to send credit applications and guarantees, yet Eck received both documents, then there is only one plausible conclusion: Hensley executed and sent the Credit Application and Guarantee. Also inconsistent was the fact that Hensley attempted to dispel the Credit Application and Guarantee by testifying that he had in fact filled out an application in 1998, thus eliminating the need for the Credit Application and Guarantee, executed in 2000. (Tr. pp. 109-111). Conveniently, this 1998 credit application was not produced in this case. (Tr. pp. 109-110). Hensley’s wife testified that the facsimile information stamped at the top of the Credit Application was Superior’s, indicating that the Credit Application and Guarantee were sent from Superior to Eck. (Tr. p. 203).

“Simplistically put, disparateness in testimony goes to the weight of the testimony of the witness. The fact finder is imbued with broad discretion in determining credibility or believability of witnesses. Quintessentially, an operative factor in evaluating credibility of a witness is inconsistency.” *Small v. Pioneer Machinery, Inc.* 329 S.C. 448, 465, 494 S.E.2d 835, 843 (Ct.App.1997). Hensley and his wife offered testimony in their depositions and at trial

which contradicted completely their testimony that Hensley did not sign the documents. The Master was imparted with the responsibility of seeing through these inconsistencies, and this Court is required to give his findings substantial deference.

Furthermore, Hensley's personal self-interest in this case is obvious and ripe for consideration by the Master. *see McCormick on Evidence*, s 40, p. 78 (1972). (stating, "The law recognizes the slanting effect upon human testimony of the emotions or feelings of the witness toward the parties or the self-interest of the witness in the outcome of the case. Partiality, or any acts, relationships or motives reasonably likely to produce it, may be proved to impeach credibility.")

The Master assessed the credibility and testimony of both Hensley and his wife, including their self-interest in this case, and found the weight of the evidence to be in favor of Eck. And because there is evidence that reasonably suggests Hensley's execution of both the Credit Application and Guarantee, the Master's findings should not be disturbed by this Court.

The Appellants also rely heavily on *Pee Dee Production Credit Ass'n v. Joye*, 284 S.C. 371, 326 S.E.2d 650 (1984) to argue that Eck's case should have failed because Eck did not use a handwriting expert or offer verified samples of Hensley's signature for comparison. However, there is nothing in *Pee Dee* that requires handwriting experts or exemplars be used, it only describes how they may be used. *see Id.* In actuality, the case stands for the rule that "no requirement exists that a signature be witnessed in order to authenticate a document." *Id.* at 375, 653. Furthermore, the *Pee Dee* Court made the following ruling, which directly relates to the issues raised by the Appellants:

Were this Court to adopt appellant's view that signatures must be personally witnessed to be proven, financial institutions would have great difficulty protecting their interests. In any dispute concerning a transaction, a person who witnessed the signature would have to be produced, even years after the disputed event. In today's

transient society, this would be an impossible burden. Furthermore, such a rule would cause customer inconvenience because one could never deal with a financial institution by mail or through an intermediary. Each customer would have to transact all business personally.

Id. This holding carries weight in the instant action, as Superior faxed to Eck a completed Credit Application and Guarantee. Eck had every right to rely on what the Guarantee purported to be: Fully executed contracts sent directly from the party to be bound by their terms. Otherwise, as noted by the Supreme Court, Eck would be forced to overcome the impossible burden of dealing personally with anyone to whom it desired to extend credit. *Id.*

For all of the above stated reasons, there is evidence to support the Master's findings of fact, which should not be disturbed on appeal.

III. THE MASTER'S RULING TO ADMIT THE CREDIT APPLICATION INTO EVIDENCE PURSUANT TO RULE 901 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF EVIDENCE DID NOT CONSTITUTE A CLEAR ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

As argued above, Superior has not appealed the Lower Court's ruling that the Principal Debt is owed by Superior. This Lower Court found this debt to be owed under the Credit Application. Again, given that Superior is not appealing the validity of the Credit Application with respect to the Principle Debt, it should be prevented from appealing the admission of the Credit Application with respect to the attorney's fees and interest. Despite this problem, which should be dispositive of all Superior's arguments against the validity or proper admission of the Credit Application, Eck maintains that admission of the Credit Application at trial did not constitute a clear abuse of discretion.

Rule 901(a) states, "The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." Rule 901(a), SCRE. "[T]he burden to authenticate ... is not high" and requires only that the proponent "offer[] a satisfactory foundation from which

the jury could reasonably find that the evidence is authentic.” *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 64-65, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting *United States v. Hassan*, 742 F.3d 104, 133 (4th Cir.2014)).

The admission of evidence is within the trial court's discretion. *Washington v. Whitaker*, 317 S.C. 108, 451 S.E.2d 894 (1994); *Haselden v. Davis*, 341 S.C. 486, 534 S.E.2d 295 (Ct.App.2000). The court's ruling to admit or exclude evidence will only be reversed if it constitutes an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. See *Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Comm'n*, 332 S.C. 54 n. 2, 504 S.E.2d 117 n. 2 (1998). See also *Carlyle v. Tuomey Hosp.*, 305 S.C. 187, 407 S.E.2d 630 (1991) (stating that absent showing of clear abuse of discretion, trial court's admission or rejection of evidence is not subject to reversal on appeal). In addition, evidentiary rulings will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the complaining party. *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006).

There are at least two ways that Eck authenticated the Credit Application and the Guarantee, Rule 901(b)(1) and Rule 901(b)(4).

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